Courses.

AUG 2 6 2020

OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT 4

Case No. 2019AP2339-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

SAMUEL M. POLHAMUS,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from Jury Trial Order of Hon'ble Radcliffe, Richard Monroe County Case Number 2019CM000030 State of Wisconsin vs. Samuel Martin Polhamus

> BRIEF OF APPELLANT SAMUEL M. POLHAMUS

> > -i-

SAMUEL M. POLHAMUS Pro Se Litigant 5830 Cambridge Road, Sparta, WI 54656 Telephone: 608-792-8417 Email: sam@polhamus.net .

η

Π

Π

Π

Π

Π

Filed 08-26-2020

I. ISSUE PRESENTED

A.Question is whether videotaping can be considered a threat and whether that conduct that would be intention to do harm.

II. STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is not requested. It is anticipated that the issue will be sufficiently addressed in the briefs. Publication is not warranted because the issue raised involves the application of established legal principles to the facts of this case.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A simple fact of videotaping, when a person receives threats and feels great danger to life, health and safety; which he indeed suffered cannot be considered a

threat and that conduct cannot be construed as intention to do harm his aggressor/assailant/assaulter.

IV. FACTS

Facts are very clear that this was a minor incident where in fact defendant took beating and suffered injuries. Following are factual excerpts from Jury Trial Transcripts:

A.Mr. Schodeberg Threw First Punch and Hit Defendant

Page 368-369¹ of Jury Trial Transcripts

Q Mr. Polhamus, the people at the bar, the bar patrons, they were bothered by you using the cell phone in their faces, weren't they? A There was only two people that I

put my cell phone in their faces and they assaulted me first - - or one assaulted me first. The other one announced that it was his intention to bring great peril to my life, health and safety.

¹ Appendix Page No. 112-113.

Now, if you don 't want me to put my cell phone in your face, don't march up to me and get in my grill and tell me you 're going to kick my ass. If you don't do that, you won't have to worry about me getting my cell phone out.

B. Defendant Did Not Press Charges Against Mr. Schodeberg

Page 369² of Jury Trial Transcripts

Q Mr. Polhamus, when you had contact with law enforcement, you told them you didn't want to press any charges against Mr. Schodeberg for punching you; is that correct? A That 's correct.

C. Defendant Did Not Make Any Threats

Page 375^3 of Jury Trial Transcripts

MS. SKILES: It must have been Mr. Schodeberg, Judge. THE COURT: And Mr. Schodeberg did testify that he felt threatened by the defen-dant putting the - - his cell phone in his face and videotaping him; however, there wasn't any testimony that Mr. Polhamus made any threaten-ing comments. So the question is really

² Appendix Page No. 113.

³ Appendix Page No. 114.

whether videotaping can be considered a threat and whether that's conduct that would be intention to do harm.

D. Defendant Disarmed Himself

Page 3754 of Jury Trial Transcripts

I can 't find that - - while putting a video - - a video or a cell phone in some - body 's face is certainly disarming and probably makes them uncomfortable and we've heard testimony about that, I can't find that it is a threat of intention to do harm to somebody.

So I don 't believe that that portion of the jury instruction should be included. I'll strike that from the meaning of disorderly conduct.

E. Defendant Disarmed Himself Even When Allegedly Intoxicated but Was Suffering Concussion

Page 376⁵ of Jury Trial Transcripts

MS. SKILES: Just an addition request, Judge. I do not believe that instruction 201, opinion of a non expert, is included. I would be asking that that be included as to the officer's testimony that he believed

⁴ Appendix Page No. 114.

⁵ Appendix Page No. 115.

the defendant was intoxicated or impaired.

Page 414⁶ of Jury Trial Transcripts

It 's - - the DA 's flat out wrong, she got me totally wrong, and so I guess at this point I 've made my points the best I can. I think you understand that - - that - - if you recall correctly, I don 't believe when I 'm videotaping these other folks just minutes before my interaction with the police that I do not sound intoxicated at all.

I think after that I do, but I think if you factor in the fact that I have freshly fattened lips and I ' m suffering a concussion, it's all very explainable.

F. Defendant Was Only Using Cell Phone to Protect Himself From Threat To His Life Health And Safety

Page 368-369⁷ of Jury Trial Transcripts

Q Mr. Polhamus, the people at the bar, the bar patrons, they were bothered by you using the cell phone in their faces, weren't they?

A There was only two people that I put my cell phone in their faces and they assaulted me first - - or one

⁶ Appendix Page No. 116.

⁷ Appendix Page No. 112-113.

assaulted me first. The other one announced that it was his intention to bring great peril to my life, health and safety.

Now, if you don 't want me to put my cell phone in your face, don't march up to me and get in my grill and tell me you 're going to kick my ass. If you don't do that, you won't have to worry about me getting my cell phone out.

Page 375⁸ of Jury Trial Transcripts

MS. SKILES: It must have been Mr. Schodeberg, Judge.

THE COURT: And Mr. Schodeberg did testify that he felt threatened by the defen - dant putting the - - his cell phone in his face and videotaping him; however, there wasn ' t any testimony that Mr. Polhamus made any threatening comments. So the question is really whether videotaping can be considered a threat and whether that's conduct that would be intention to do harm.

I can 't find that - - while putting a video - - a video or a cell phone in some - body 's face is certainly disarming and probably makes them uncomfortable and we've heard testimony about that, I can't find that it is a threat of intention to do harm to somebody.

So I don ' t believe that that portion of the jury instruction should be

⁸ Appendix Page No. 114.

included. I'll strike that from the meaning of disorderly conduct.

Page 364-3679 of Jury Trial Transcripts

THE COURT: (Interrupting) Mr. Polhamus, I want you to take a deep breath. Okay. Just let that sink in for a minute and try to listen to the question and just answer her question.

Okay. So go ahead and - - and finish. The question was what did you con tribute to the situation?

A I contributed to being in the wrong spot in the wrong place on July 14th whereby some bad employees with the Monroe County Police Department put me in a position - -

MS. SKILES: (Interrupting) Ob-jection. Objection.

THE COURT: Hang on. Mr. Polhamus, your comments are inappropriate, they ' re stricken from the record.

What we ' re talking about, Mr. Polhamus, is what happened on January 19th I believe, that ' s Friday, January 18th, into the early morning hours of Friday (sic), January 19th.

And go ahead and ask your next question. I don't think he responded to the last one, so you can ask another question.

Q Mr. Polhamus, just what did you do to contribute to this situation? A What did I do to contribute to the situation? Would have, could have, should have. I could Monday

⁹ Appendix Page No. 108-111.

Page 12 of 24

morning quarterback this thing all day long. Okay. I ' ve never been in a position before where I ' ve had to all of a sudden realize if I go to neutralizing threats so I don ' t have to - -Q (Interrupting) Mr. Polhamus, I don ' t mean to be rude and cut you off , but the bottom line here is I asked you a very specific question and you ' re not answering my question, and I really just need you to answer my question. contributed to thissituation You loud in these because you were establishments, weren't you? А Because I was allowed in these establishments? 0 You were loud, you used loud language, you used boisterous language, right? Only after I ' d been attacked. Α You used profanity? 0 А Profanity was used on me. You used the F word as we ' ve 0 heard on the videos, right? Again, I have done my best to Α inform you that it was my plan to play in the same sand box they ' re playing in; to let them know that if they think they 're crass, I 'm crass; if they think they can bark loud, I can bark loud ; if they think they can bite , I can bite. That is my plan to avoid trouble. Could have, should have, would have, Monday morning quarterback it all you want. I ' ve never been placed in this position before. I ' ve never -8-

had a chance to practice how do you get people who have shown they want to bring grave peril to your life, health and safety.

How do you show them that you have abandoned your previously well enjoyed ability to neutralize threats that are brought against you. That now the better, the smarter option because I ' m out on bond and because I have had vast experience of how police handle alter - cations at bars , is to make a conscious de - cision that I ' m smarter to take a beating than I am to neutralize threats.

Q And in the past you said that you would fight back; is that correct? A Would have, could have, should have. I like the True Grit line of, " I find real life vexing enough - - . " THE REPORTER: I 'm sorry. You find what?

I'm sorry. I'd like to Α quote from the movie True Grit whereby I find the merchant horse trader says, I find real life vexing enough without entertaining hypotheticals. " We'll never know how this would have turned out if I wasn't out on a signature bond; however, I would like to guarantee you this, if I felt my life, health and safety were in grave peril, I don ' t think I would have gotten really close to the people who I felt were going to hit me and I don't think I would have tied up one of my defense mechanisms with a phone .

-9-

G. Court Disallowed Defendants' Medical Condition

Page 30710 of Jury Trial Transcripts

MR. POLHAMUS: Well, I would certainly like for the jury to know that I have witnessed people in the aftermath of concus - sions numerous, numerous times . I can tell you that I've left people in awe with a prognosis once I've made the diagnosis of a concussion.

THE COURT: And I 'm not going to allow you to testify about that, Mr. Polhamus, and here's why. You' re not a medical expert, so you ' re not providing an opinion that 's based on a medical diagnosis. You ' re giving an opinion.

Page 414¹¹ of Jury Trial Transcripts

It 's - - the DA 's flat out wrong, she got me totally wrong , and so I guess at this point I 've made my points the best I can . I think you understand that - - that - - if you recall correctly, I don 't believe when I 'm videotaping these other folks just minutes before my interaction with the police that I do not sound intoxicated at all. I think after that I do , but I think if you factor in the fact that I have

freshly fattened lips and I ' m

¹⁰ Appendix Page No. 107.

¹¹ Appendix Page No. 116.

suffering a con -cussion, it ' s all
very explainable.

H. Trouble Followed Defendant

Statement of State witness Jacob Ludovice:

Page 14412 of Jury Trial Transcripts

Q What did he tell you?

A He said after he was asked to leave The Hangout, he walked to the Amber Inn. At that point he was - - he stated he was video - taping people with his phone.

At that point he said he was attacked by an unknown assailant, which I observed some injuries to his face. Mr. Polhamus said that he didn ' t want to pursue any charges in that matter, he would take it up civily, denied any medical attention, essen - tially just summarized what occurred before he stepped outside with me.

Q Did he tell you why he was video - taping people?

A I think he was upset from the incident that occurred at The Hangout and that it spilled over into the Amber Inn.

I.DAs' Real Intention

By Tentative pre-trial offer

03/12/2019, DAs' real intention was

-11-

to get Defendant to plead guilty to

another case:

8CM353 • PLEAD (Guilty/No Contest) TO: Count 2 (drug para). Dismiss and read-in Count 1 (THC) and Count 3 (illegally obtained prescription). Sentencing Recommendation: pay \$100 fine plus costs. 19CM30 Dismiss and read-in to 18CM353 **This offer is contingent on the defendant withdrawing suppression motion in 18CM353 by Tuesday, March 19, 2019.** Reasons for Offer:

D is 56. No criminal history. Had prior drug para citation dismissed in exchange for plea to traffic matter here in Monroe County. In 18CM353 (July 14, 2018), P had THC and Viagra in his car. In 19CM30 (January 19, 2019), D was involved in an incident at a bar. D appeared highly intoxicated.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Videotaping Cannot Be Considered A Threat

The disorderly conduct statute, WIS.

STAT. § 947.01, provides:

¹² Appendix Page No. 106.

"Whoever, in a public or private place, engages in violent, abusive, indecent, profane, boisterous, unreasonably loud or under otherwise disorderly conduct circumstances in which the conduct tends to cause or provoke a disturbance is guilty of a Class B misdemeanor." The elements of disorderly conduct are: (1) defendant engaged in (violent) The (profane) (indecent) (abusive) (boisterous) (unreasonably loud) (or otherwise disorderly) conduct; and (2) The conduct of the defendant, under the circumstances as they then existed, tended to cause or provoke a disturbance. WIS JI - CRIMINAL 1900.

Bar/ establishment was recording [with/without consent] via surveillance camera which was in fact produced as evidence [Samuel was not aware of it.]

Samuel felt threatened and started recording the verbal and physical assault he received. His action was not a threat to anyone.

This act of videotaping is no where defined as "disorderly conduct" in the above statute.

-13-

Brief of Appellant

To extract guilty plea from Samuel in previous pending case Prosecution went overboard in its discretion.

> The crime has two elements: (1) "the conduct must be of the type enumerated in the statute or similar thereto in having a tendency to disrupt good order," and (2) "the conduct must be engaged in under circumstances which tend to cause or provoke a disturbance." <u>City of Oak</u> <u>Creek v. King</u>, 148 Wis. 2d 532, 540, 436 N.W.2d 285 (1989.)

There was no good "order" in the bar at that time of night. Everybody was drunk and picking up fight with "Samuel." Samuel did not disrupt any good order, in fact Samuel was himself victim of bad conduct of other patrons.

> Thus, rather than attempting to enumerate "the limitless number of antisocial acts which a person could engage in that would menace, disrupt, or destroy public order," § 947.01 "proscribes conduct in terms of results which can reasonably be expected therefrom." <u>King, 148 Wis.</u> 2d at 541.

> Whether conduct is disorderly depends upon the surrounding circumstances; "what would

> > -14-

Π

Page 19 of 24

constitute disorderly conduct in one set of circumstances, might not under some other." <u>State v. Elson</u>, 60 Wis. 2d 54, 60, 208 N.W.2d 363 (1973.)

State v. Eggum, Appeal No.

2016AP2036-CR, at *8-9 (Wis. Ct. App.

Nov. 8, 2017.)

To satisfy the first element, the State alleges in its petition that A.S.'s statements were "abusive and otherwise disorderly conduct." Wisconsin appellate courts have not directly addressed what is meant by abusive conduct. However, they have what constitutes considered "otherwise disorderly conduct" in several cases. Here, we need not determine if A.S.'s threats constitute abusive conduct because we conclude that his threats could determined to be otherwise be disorderly conduct. In the Interest of A.S., 99-2317, No. 99-2317, at *1 (Wis. Ct. App. Mar. 2, 2000.)

Here it is a matter of record that Samuel never threatened anyone. He himself felt threatened and started recording for evidence. [See Page 375 of Jury Trial Transcripts.]

-15-

B. Defendants Videotaping Would Not Be Intention to Do Harm

The second element of disorderly conduct requires that the conduct be of the type which "tends to cause or provoke a disturbance...." See Wis. Stat. § 947.01.

In determining what conduct satisfies this element, the supreme court has looked to both the actual effect and the potential effect that the conduct had on others.

For example, in **Elson**, 60 Wis.2d at 66, 208 N.W.2d at 370, the court upheld a jury verdict which found that an attorney, who refused to leave a mental ward until he saw his client, exhibited conduct that tended to cause or provoke a disturbance. The court noted that numerous patients were gathering in response to the attorney's arguments and refusals to leave the ward.

-16-

П

Here, none of Samuels' action was capable to cause or provoke a disturbance. State Exhibit Video is clear that Samuel tried his best to avoid any conflict, Samuel did not start fight, Samuel did not hit first, Samuel tried to get away from the assaulter by getting behind the counter.

The only possible mistake Samuel did is that he is a good person and Christian at heart. He immediately forgave his accuser and declined to press charges.

VI. CONCLUSION

Therefore, as explained above, Samuel did not commit the crime of 947.01(1) "disorderly conduct." His conviction must be set aside.