Brief of Respondent

Filed 11-23-2020

Page 1 of 11

FILED 11-23-2020 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT IV

Case No. 2019AP2339-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

SAMUEL POLHAMUS,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JURY VERDICT IN THE MONROE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONROABLE RICHARD A. RADCLIFFE PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

SARAH M. SKILES Assistant District Attorney State Bar #1093720

Attorney for Plaintiff-Respondent Monroe County 112 South Court Street Rm 2400 Sparta, Wisconsin 54656 (608) 269-8780 monroe.call@da.wi.gov

STATEMENT OF THE CASE
ARGUMENT4
A. Polhamus' brief fails to comply with Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19.4
B. Polhamus' inadequately briefed issues should not be given consideration.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATION AS TO FORM AND LENGTH
CERTIFICATION OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 809.19(12) 10
CERTIFICATION OF MAILING

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES

State v. Czarnecki,
2000 WI App 155,,
237 Wis. 2d 794
615 N.W.2d 6727
Sanchez v. Miller,
792 F.2d 694 (7th Cir. 1986)
State v. Pettit,
171 Wis. 2d 627 (Ct. App. 1992), 492 N.W.2d 6336
State v. Jackson,
229 Wis. 2d 328 (Ct. App. 1999),
600 N.W.2d 395
State v. Poellinger,
153 Wis.2d 493 (1990),
451 N.W.2d 7527
U.S. ex rel. Verdone v. Circuit Court for Taylor County,
73 F.3d 669 (7th Cir. 1995)
Waushara County v. Graf,
166 Wis. 2d 442 (1992),
480 N.W.2d 165
STATUTES
Wis. Stat.§ (Rule) 809.134, 5
Wis. Stat. (Rule) § 809.836
· / •

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

The State anticipates the issue(s) raised in this appeal can be addressed by the briefs. Accordingly, the State is not requesting oral argument. Further, publication is not warranted under Wis. Stat. § 809.23.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant-appellant, Samuel Polhamus, acting pro se, both in the trial court and now on appeal, was found guilty of disorderly conduct and acquitted of misdemeanor bail jumping following a jury trial. (33, 34; 49.) The incident leading to this conviction occurred in the downtown bars in Sparta, Wisconsin while the defendant was intoxicated. (2; 37; 40.) The incident began with the defendant verbally harassing and sparring with bar patrons and ended with a physical confrontation during which the defendant jumped over the bar. (2; 39; 40.) Following his conviction, Polhamus filed a postconviction motion requesting a new trial. (73; 76; 78.) Polhamus' post-conviction motion was denied. (83.) The defendant now appeals and he requests to have his conviction vacated.

ARGUMENT

A. Polhamus' brief fails to comply with Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19.

1. Applicable legal principles.

Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.19 specifies the form and content of briefs filed in the Wisconsin Court of Appeals.

¹ The post-conviction motion raised issues that are not referenced here. (83.)

Case 2019AP002339 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-23-2020 Page 5 of 11

Subsection (1)(d) requires the appellant's brief to contain "[a] statement of the case, which must include: a description of the nature of the case; the procedural status of the case leading up to the appeal; the disposition in the trial court; and a statement of facts relevant to the issues presented for review, with appropriate references to the record." Subsection (1)(e) requires the brief to contain "[a]n argument, arranged in the order of the statement of issues presented. The argument on each issue must be preceded by a one sentence summary of the argument and is to contain the contention of the appellant, the reasons therefore, with citations to the authorities, statutes and parts of the record relied on as set forth in the Uniform System of Citation and SCR 80.02."

Succinctly, parties have the obligation to present and support their arguments. *See State v. Jackson*, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 337, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999) ("A party must do more than simply toss a bunch of concepts into the air with the hope that either the trial court or the opposing party will arrange them into viable and fact-supported legal theories.").

A party's pro se status does not relieve him or her of the obligation to comply with the relevant rules of procedure. That is, pro se litigants must normally meet the same standards as attorneys. See Waushara County v. Graf, 166 Wis. 2d 442, 452, 480 N.W.2d 16, 20 (1992) ("While pro se litigants in some circumstances deserve some leniency . . . (citation omitted), the rule applies only to pro se prisoners." Even pro se parties "must expect to file a legal argument and some supporting authority. United States ex rel. Verdone v. Circuit Court for Taylor County, 73 F.3d 669, 673 (7th Cir. 1995) (per curiam). It is not the court's obligation to research and construct legal arguments for the parties. Sanchez v. Miller, 792 F.2d 694, 703 (7th Cir. 1986).

A party's failure to comply with the rules of appellate procedure "... is grounds for dismissal of the appeal, summary reversal, striking of a paper, imposition of a penalty or costs on Case 2019AP002339 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-23-2020 Page 6 of 11

a party or counsel, or other action as the court considers appropriate." Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.83(2). That is, the court may decline to review issues that are inadequately briefed. See State v. Pettit, 171 Wis. 2d 627, 646-47, 492 N.W.2d 633 (Ct. App. 1992) ("Pettit's arguments are not developed themes reflecting any legal reasoning. Instead, the arguments are supported by only general statements. We may decline to briefed. . . . review issues inadequately Arguments unsupported by references to legal authority will not be considered. . . . Pettit's brief is so lacking in organization and substance that for us to decide his issues, we would first have to develop them. We cannot serve as both advocate and judge") [footnote omitted.]

2. Polhamus' inadequately briefed issues should not be given consideration.

Polhamus' presentation of his issues and the support for his issues are insufficiently developed such that they do not merit the court's review.

Polhamus frames the issues as "whether videotaping can be considered a threat and whether that conduct would be intention to do harm." (App.'s Br. 1, 12-16.) In support of these issues, Polhamus included a portion of the jury instruction conference at trial when the parties and trial court discussed the jury instruction on disorderly conduct. The portion of the transcript references the trial court finding the defendant's videotaping was not a threat of intention to do harm and therefore that part was removed from the jury instruction (Wis. JI-Criminal 1900) and not read to the jury. The court's finding was exactly the argument Polhamus is attempting to advance in this appeal. Therefore, the State is unclear on what the issues are Polhamus is attempting to advance in this appeal. By raising these claims and then failing to develop the argument, the State has spent much time and effort attempting to guess at the essential nature of the controversy.

Case 2019AP002339 Brief of Respondent Filed 11-23-2020 Page 7 of 11

Beyond failing to develop his arguments, Polhamus provides almost no citation to legal authority, much less record citations to the "facts" that he interspersed into his argument. The defendant failed to sketch an argument about why.

The State's ability to address Polhamus' claims is significantly hindered by Polhamus' lack of developed arguments, lack of record citations, and lack of citations to relevant legal authority in his brief. In order for the State to address Polhamus' undeveloped claims, the State would need to identify all possible issues his brief may be attempting to convey, research all possible issues, develop all possible arguments, and then brief them.

In light of Polhamus' inadequate briefing, the court should decline to consider Polhamus' argument.

B. The evidence presented at trial was sufficient to support Polhamus' conviction of disorderly conduct.

Should the court nonetheless exercise its discretion and elect to attempt to review Polhamus' claims, this court should conclude his claims are without merit

To the extent the State can distill what his central argument may be, the State interprets Polhamus' claim as a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence.

1. Applicable legal principles

When an appellate court reviews a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence, the court must affirm the conviction if any possibility exists that the trier of fact could have drawn the appropriate inferences from the evidence at trial to find guilt. *State v. Poellinger*, 153 Wis.2d 493, 507, 451 N.W.2d 752, 758 (1990). If more than one inference can be drawn from the evidence, the reviewing court must accept the inference drawn by the jury. *State v. Czarnecki*, 2000 WI App 155, ¶5, 237 Wis. 2d 794, 800, 615 N.W.2d 672.

2. There was sufficient evidence to support the jury's verdict of guilty.

As the trial court acknowledged in ruling on Polhamus' post-conviction motion, the most relevant evidence was the videos shown during trial that showed the bar fights and Polhamus' conduct with officers on a public street. (83: 3-4.) While the videotaping may have played a part in the jury's deliberations, he overemphasizes the importance of it. The State called seven witnesses at trial. These witnesses included the bartender, bar patrons, and police officers who all detailed Polhamus' conduct. From the totality of the witness testimony, in conjunction with the videos, a reasonable factfinder could have drawn inferences from it to find Polhamus guilty.

CONCLUSION

Polhamus has failed to state a clear, identifiable legal theory under which he is entitled to relief, nor has he supported such theory with facts and legal support. Therefore, the State asks this Court to affirm the judgment of conviction.